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1.1 

Directors 
Paul Aurius Lincoln Smith LL.B. (University of Sydney), Chairman 
Marcus Paul Lincoln Smith B.A., BSc. (Hons.), MSc., PhD. (University of Sydney) 
Wayne Vincent Annis-Brown LL.B., LL.M. (University of Sydney)  
Steven John Danielson F.C.A., B.B.S. 
Bun Kiem Lee F.C.A., B.Com. (Alternate for S.J. Danielson) 
 
Secretaries 
Steven John Danielson F.C.A., B.B.S.    
Rachel Lee Thorn 
 
Registered office 
Level 7, 10 Barrack Street 
SYDNEY  NSW  2000  AUSTRALIA 
Telephone: (02) 9299 3655 
Email: admin@carbonminerals.com.au 
Website: www.carbonminerals.com.au 
 
Share registry 
Mitchell & Partners 
Level 7, 10 Barrack Street 
SYDNEY  NSW  2000  AUSTRALIA 
Telephone: (02) 9392 8686 
 
Technical Advisors 
Earth Resources Australia Pty Limited 
Suite 2.06, 56 Delhi Road 
NORTH RYDE  NSW  2113  AUSTRALIA 
Telephone: (02) 9887 1366 
Website: www.earthres.com.au 
 
Solicitors 
Blake Dawson 
Level 36, Grosvenor Place 
225 George Street 
SYDNEY  NSW  2000  AUSTRALIA 
 
Auditor 
PricewaterhouseCoopers  
Darling Park Tower 2 
201 Sussex Street 
SYDNEY  NSW  1171  AUSTRALIA 
 
Bankers 
Australia and New Zealand Banking Group Limited 
Lower Ground, 450 George Street 
SYDNEY  NSW  2000 AUSTRALIA 
 
Securities Exchange listing 
Carbon Minerals Limited shares are listed on the Australian Securities Exchange under the code CRM. 
 
The Company is limited by shares, incorporated and domiciled in Australia. 
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1.2 

Address by the Chairman, Mr Paul Lincoln Smith 
 
Fellow shareholders: 
 
New South Wales, Australia and the world are entering a crucial phase in the use of energy, which 
dictates so many aspects of our daily lives.  We face the imminent implementation of the Carbon Tax, 
which will affect all Australians, and NSW is desperately seeking local, comparatively clean sources of 
energy.  Indeed, we do have these resources, but we will need to be diligent, active and persistent to 
realise the great potential that we have.  In these challenging times, I think it is important to reflect on our 
Company’s journey to date, and where we see ourselves in the future. 
 
Our company, Carbon Minerals Limited (Carbon) has been in existence now for more than 30 years.  I 
sponsored the formation of Carbon via a pre-existing company, Magnum Explorations Limited, in 1980 
to permit ongoing exploration of Magnum’s considerable portfolio of mineral exploration tenements at no 
cost to Magnum or its shareholders.  A feature of the float was the acquisition – by way of share issue – 
of 10% interest in the Vickery Coal Deposit in the Gunnedah Basin of NSW. 
 
Magnum acquired the Vickery tenement – then Exploration Licence 209 – in the late 1960s.  Despite 
comments that even if coal of potential economic quality were delineated, the region was far too remote 
from markets and ports to be viable, I persisted with our exploration work for many years.  Despite often 
tough times – the early 1970s marked the collapse of the great mineral exploration boom (the “Nickel 
Boom”) - our persistence paid off, as a number of current Carbon shareholders will be aware.  In 1987 we 
sold Vickery to the Conzinc RioTinto Australia subsidiary, Kembla Coal and Coke, when Carbon’s 10% 
interest realised $2.8 million. 
 
Between 1987 and 1989 Carbon progressively acquired (via on-market transactions) nearly 20% of the 
issued capital of Magnum.  In 1991 I decided to privatise Magnum, and Carbon accepted my takeover 
offer of $4.10 per share, realising a further profit to Carbon of just under $2 million. 
 
All of these events hinged upon my success with the Vickery deposit. 
 
1992 was a landmark year in Carbon’s “post Vickery” corporate evolution.  We paid a fully franked 
maiden dividend of 2.5 cents/share, we undertook a capital reduction scheme (share buy-back) by paying 
out almost $1 million to accepting shareholders, and most importantly I made the decision to embark on 
coal seam gas (CSG) exploration which was then in its infancy in Australia.  We renamed one of the 
company’s wholly owned subsidiaries to create Australian Coalbed Methane Pty Limited (ACM), and 
through our long-time geological advisers (Earth Resources Australia Pty Limited, who were also 
involved in the proving-up of Vickery), we acquired two Petroleum Exploration Licences (PEL 286 and 
PEL 1) in the Gunnedah Basin, the scene of our earlier coal success.  In the latter part of 1992 we entered 
into a Joint Venture with the former Electricity Commission of NSW – Pacific Power - in which ACM 
was 80% equity holder and Operator. In 1995 the JV acquired PEL 12, adjoining to the west of PEL 1.  
This JV successfully persisted until 2003 when the State Government elected to wind-up Pacific Power, 
and 100% equity in the tenements reverted to Carbon Minerals. 
 
As with our coal endeavours, we have persisted with our CSG efforts, again through often difficult times.  
We were rewarded in 2004 with our discovery of the Biogenic Gas Fairway extending through PELs 1 
and 12.  In 2007 ACM signed a farmin agreement (FIA) with Santos QNT Pty Ltd, a wholly-owned 
subsidiary of Santos Limited which as I am sure shareholders are aware, is Australia’s second largest 
petroleum company and the country’s largest gas producer. 
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1.3 

In 2010 we announced a total 3C contingent resource of 5,459 PJ in the Gunnedah tenements, and in 2011 
we negotiated a $15 million payout from Santos for termination of the existing farmin agreement in 
exchange for an enhanced stage 2 work program commitment.  As a result of this transaction, Santos’ 
equity increased from the Stage 1 level of 25% to 65%. 
 
Significantly for Carbon, 2011 also saw the acquisition by Santos of our Gunnedah CSG neighbour, 
Eastern Star Gas, at a price which valued that company at almost one billion dollars. 
 
As a junior exploration company with such a long and successful history, and particularly given that we 
have less than 20 million shares on issue, Carbon is in an unusual position on the Australian Securities 
exchange.  Such a tight share register of course provides massive share price leverage to our shareholders 
when ongoing exploration and development success are achieved. 
 
Shareholders will be aware that I and my family are the major shareholder in Carbon, owning some 80% 
of the company’s issued capital.  This equity level is a direct reflection of my faith in the company’s 
future success.  This is further demonstrated by my support of capital raisings (most recently the 2006 
share call), my acquisition of forfeited shares at auction (2006), and my more recent provision of private 
loan funding to the Company.  Furthermore, my eldest son, Marcus Lincoln Smith, has stepped up his 
Director’s role at Carbon, moving in recent months from a non-executive to executive role. 
 
Despite current public opposition to seam gas exploration and production – some of which is soundly 
based, but most of which is based on unscientific misinformation - there is absolutely no doubt that this 
clean, affordable and local gas resource is desperately needed, particularly by New South Wales.  There is 
equally no doubt in my mind that the Gunnedah Basin, and particularly Carbon’s tenements, will be a 
major contributor to this; we have a very valuable asset, and our patience and persistence will again be 
handsomely rewarded. 
 
Our activities in the forthcoming year will no doubt be affected by the evolution of Government CSG 
policy.  However, we look forward to the Operator progressing the JV’s agreed work program, which is 
designed to commence the conversion of contingent resources to reserves as well as expand the resource 
base.  The Company clearly now has the funds to meet all of its required contributions towards this work 
program. 
 
[Highlights of Carbon’s corporate history and details of the Gunnedah Project may be found at our 

website, http://carbonminerals.com.au] 
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Directors’ report 
 
Your directors present their report on the consolidated entity consisting of Carbon Minerals Limited and 
the entities it controlled at the end of, or during, the year ended 31 December 2011. 
 

The following persons were directors of Carbon Minerals Limited during the whole of the year, and up to 
the date of this report: 
 

P.A. Lincoln Smith  
M.P. Lincoln Smith  
W.V. Annis-Brown  
S.J. Danielson  
B.K. Lee (alternate director for S.J. Danielson) 
 

Principal Activities 
The principal continuing activities of the Group in the course of the year were the exploration for natural 
resources in the Commonwealth of Australia. 
 

Operating Results 
The consolidated profit of the consolidated entity after providing for income tax amounted to $10,404,502 
(2010: loss $203,948). 
 

Dividends 
The directors report that during the year ended 31 December 2011 no dividends were declared or paid 
(2010: nil). 
 

Review of Operations 
 

GUNNEDAH BASIN COALBED METHANE PROJECT 
PETROLEUM EXPLORATION LICENCES 1 and 12, NSW (GUNNEDAH BASIN) 
(These tenements are held by wholly owned subsidiary, Australian Coalbed Methane Pty Ltd (ACM) and 

are subject to a Joint Venture (JV) with Santos QNT Pty Ltd (Santos), as previously advised. Santos now 

holds a 65% interest in the tenements and is the project Operator.) 
 

Development of the seam gas resources discovered by ACM in PELs 1 & 12 in the Gunnedah Basin of 
NSW successfully continued in 2011, a year earmarked by a change in the New South Wales 
Government. 
 

Exploration highlights of the Group’s Gunnedah Basin assets were provided by the successful completion 
of the Cana corehole and the Collygra chiphole in PEL 1, and completion of the first stage of the Kahlua 
4-spot pilot. The work confirmed prospective resources in the biogenic seam gas fairway in central PEL 1 
and extending into PEL 12, and enhanced prospectivity of the underlying Early Permian coal targets (see 
Map). 
 

A prominent feature of the year’s activities was a significant amendment of the farmin agreement 
between ACM and Operator Santos, whereby transfer of an additional 40% of equity in the project was 
agreed in exchange for a cash settlement and an enhanced exploration and development program and 
budget, as announced in the ASX Quarterly Report for the three months to September, 20111 . 
 
 
 
 
 
 

                                                      
1 http://www.asx.com.au/asxpdf/20111031/pdf/422642t87dnbv6.pdf 
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Directors’ report (continued) 
 
Review of Operations (continued) 
 
As more recently announced2, social opposition to coal seam gas activity has continued to grow, 
particularly in New South Wales. It is important that coal seam gas operators continue to maintain open 
and transparent lines of communication with all stakeholders, especially host communities. A key 
challenge facing the coal seam gas industry is to counter the extreme views with clear, fact-based 
arguments that demonstrate the proven ability to co-exist with other land uses3 - particularly agriculture - 
and the significant economic benefits a responsible industry will bring. Whether or not Australia’s goal of 
20% renewable energy by 2020 is achieved, attainment of close to 100% clearly remains many decades 
away, and as it is unlikely that the world’s demand for energy will diminish, gas resources MUST be 
responsibly utilised.  
 

Pilot Testing 
Drilling of the proposed multi-well pilot (Glasserton Pilot) on Carbon Minerals’ “Glasserton” property, 
located approximately 44km south-southeast of Gunnedah, was scheduled to commence in Q4 of 2011, 
however as previously announced, was put on hold. In place of the previous multi-well proposal, the JV 
elected for a single pump-test well located on elevated ground. Despite the existence of all necessary 
statutory approvals to proceed with this well, the JV agreed to delay activities until the findings of the 
Namoi Valley Water Study (see below) – expected in Q1, 2012 – were available. This will allow for 
further consultation with the community about the pilot testing process. 
 
The Kahlua multi-well pilot is located approximately 23 km west of Gunnedah and comprises three 
monitor bores (Kahlua 3, 4, & 5) and a central production well (Kahlua 2).  The pilot was operating from 
September 1, 2011 until November 17, 2011, when Kahlua 2 was shut in due to a temperature sensor trip 
in the gas flow line. This technical issue has since been resolved, however testing at the pilot has been 
temporarily suspended to allow for an investigation into the gas rate impact of suspected liner cement 
ingress during well completion.  Some additional works may be completed to improve the performance of 
this well.  Further community consultation is also considered appropriate.  
 

Exploration Wells 
Planning is well advanced for additional exploration coreholes to better define the resources of the 
biogenic and adjacent Early Permian fairways in central PEL 1 and extending into the northeast corner of 
PEL 12. 
 

Namoi Valley Water Study 
This is a scientific study to understand the risks to the Namoi catchment's water resources from existing 
and proposed coal mining and gas developments.  The work is overseen by a committee appointed by the 
NSW Government, comprising representatives from the minerals, petroleum, agricultural and irrigation 
industries and government. The study will create a valuable asset for agribusiness and resource operators 
to use in future planning, particularly given the increasingly interconnected nature of food, water and 
energy security. 
 

Further details, including access to interim reports, are available from 
http://www.namoicatchmentwaterstudy.com.au/site/index.cfm?display=238460 
 

PEL 12 RENEWAL APPLICATION 
In accordance with statutory requirements, a renewal application for PEL 12 (whose current term expired 
on September 26, 2011) was lodged in Q3, 2011. No further advice has been received from the 
administration regarding the status of the application, however despite the current climate, the JV partners 
are unaware of any impediment to the renewal of the licence. 

                                                      
2 http://www.asx.com.au/asxpdf/20120130/pdf/4240f5fk29994q.pdf 
3 http://www.appea.com.au/industry/csg/introduction.html 

F
or

 p
er

so
na

l u
se

 o
nl

y



CARBON MINERALS LIMITED  A.B.N.  29 001 836 586 
     

4 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

F
or

 p
er

so
na

l u
se

 o
nl

y



CARBON MINERALS LIMITED  A.B.N.  29 001 836 586 
     

5 
 

Directors’ report (continued) 
 
Other Activities 
The Group continues to monitor exploration opportunities both in areas of current Group activity and 
other regions throughout Australia. 
 
Significant Changes in the state of affairs 
In the opinion of the directors there were no significant changes in the state of affairs of the Group that 
occurred during the year under review, not otherwise disclosed in this report or the Group financial 
statements. 

 
Likely Developments and expected results of operations 
The Group proposes to continue its natural resources exploration programmes. 
 
Additional comments on expected results of certain operations of the Group are included in this report 
under the Review of Operations. 

 
Further information on likely developments in the operations of the Group and the expected results of 
operations have not been included in this report because the directors believe it would be likely to result 
in unreasonable prejudice to the Group.  
 
Matters Subsequent to the End of the Financial Year 
In the opinion of the directors there has not arisen in the interval between the end of the year and the date 
of this report any item, transaction or event of a material and unusual nature which, in the opinion of the 
directors, is likely to affect substantially the operations of the Group, the results of those operations, or 
the state of affairs of the Group in subsequent financial years, apart from those events mentioned in the 
review of operations. 
 
Environmental regulation 
The Group’s operations are subject to significant environmental and other regulations.  The group has a 
policy of engaging only suitably experienced contractors and consultants to ensure compliance with 
environmental regulations in respect of its mineral exploration and primary production activities. 

 
There have been no material breaches of environmental regulations during the financial year and up to the 
date of this report. 
 
Information on Directors 
Paul Aurius Lincoln Smith LL.B. (University of Sydney). Executive Chairman. Age 84.   
Experience and expertise 
Executive Chairman of the Board since 25 January 1980.  Mr. Lincoln Smith is a solicitor and business 
man and has been involved in the management of successful natural resource exploration companies since 
the 1960s.  
 

Other current directorships 
None. 
 

Former directorships in last 3 years 
None. 
 

Special responsibilities 
Chairman of the Board, Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer. 
 

Interests in shares 
15,193,372 ordinary shares in Carbon Minerals Limited. 
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Directors’ report (continued) 
 
Information on Directors (continued) 
 
Marcus Paul Lincoln Smith B.A., BSc. (Hons.), MSc., PhD. (University of Sydney). Executive 

Director. Age 57. 
Experience and expertise 
Non-executive director from his appointment on 6 December 1996 and then executive director from 1 
January 2010.  Environmental scientist for 30 years and has considerable experience in the field of 
environmental consulting. 
 

Other current directorships 
None. 
 

Former directorships in last 3 years 
None. 
 

Special responsibilities 
None. 
 

Interests in shares 
15,193,372 ordinary shares in Carbon Minerals Limited. 
 

Wayne Vincent Annis-Brown LL.B., LL.M. (University of Sydney). Non-Executive Director. Age 61.  
Experience and expertise 
Executive director from his appointment on 4 August 1988 and then non-executive director from 1 
January 2010.  Practising solicitor of the Supreme Court of New South Wales for 38 years and has 
considerable experience in commercial and business law. 
 

Other current directorships 
None. 
 

Former directorships in last 3 years 
None. 
 

Special responsibilities 
None. 
 

Interests in shares 
41,000 ordinary shares in Carbon Minerals Limited. 
 

Steven John Danielson F.C.A., B.B.S. Non-Executive Director. Age 58. 
Experience and expertise 
Non-executive director since 23 June 1993.  Chartered Accountant practising for 40 years and has 
considerable experience in accounting, taxation law and management practices.  Mr. Danielson is also a 
company secretary.   
 

Other current directorships 
None. 
 

Former directorships in last 3 years 
None. 
 

Special responsibilities 
None. 
 

Interests in shares 
100 ordinary shares in Carbon Minerals Limited. 
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Directors’ report (continued) 
 
Information on Directors (continued) 
 
Bun Kiem Lee F.C.A., B.Com. (Alternate for S.J. Danielson). Non-Executive Director. Age 58. 
Experience and expertise 
Non-executive director since 5 April 2006.  Chartered Accountant practising for 37 years and has 
considerable experience in accounting, taxation law and management practices.  
 

Other current directorships 
None. 
 

Former directorships in last 3 years 
None. 
 

Special responsibilities 
None. 
 

Interests in shares 
10,000 ordinary shares in Carbon Minerals Limited. 
 
Company Secretaries 
Steven John Danielson F.C.A., B.B.S. 
Mr. Danielson was appointed to the position of company secretary on 20 September 1988.  Mr. Danielson 
is also a non-executive director of the Company.  Details of his qualifications and experience are shown 
above. 
 
Rachel Lee Thorn  
Ms. Thorn was appointed to the position of company secretary on 26 September 1994.  Ms. Thorn is 
experienced in office management and has extensive secretarial skills. 
 
Meeting of Directors 
The following table sets out the number of meetings of the Company’s directors held during the year 
ended 31 December 2011, and the number of meetings attended by each director: 
 

 Full meetings of directors Meetings of non-executive directors 
Director 
 

A B A B 

P.A. Lincoln Smith 
M.P. Lincoln Smith 
W.V. Annis-Brown 
S.J. Danielson 
B.K. Lee (Alternate 
for S.J. Danielson) 

2 
2 
0 
0 
0 

2 
2 
2 
2 
2 

* 
* 
0 
0 
0 

* 
* 
0 
0 
0 

 

A  =  Number of meetings attended 
B  =  Number of meetings held during the time the director held office 
*  =  Not a non-executive director 
 

Remuneration Report  
This report details the policy and principles that govern the remuneration of directors and executives of 
the Company and Group; the link between remuneration policy and principles and the Company’s and 
Group’s performance for the year and the remuneration arrangements of directors and executives. 
 

The directors and executives who are responsible for the overall planning, directing and controlling of the 
activities of the Company and Group during the year are as follows: 
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Directors’ report (continued) 
 
Remuneration Report (continued) 
 
Executive Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer 
P.A. Lincoln Smith 
 

Executive Director 
M.P. Lincoln Smith 
 

Non-Executive Directors 
W.V. Annis-Brown 
S.J. Danielson 
B.K. Lee 
 

Remuneration policy 
Objectives and principles of remuneration policy 
The objective of the Company’s and Group’s remuneration policy and its principles is to ensure that 
reward is competitive and appropriate. 
 

No element of remuneration is determined in relation to the financial performance of the Company or 
Group. As there is no link to financial performance there is no further discussion of the matters required 
by section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001 and Part 2M of the Regulations. These sections require 
discussion over the current year and the previous 4 years of the link between reward and: 
 

• earnings 

• dividends 

• share price movements 
 

During the year ended 31 December 2011, the Company did not have a separate remuneration committee. 
Instead, the duties and responsibilities typically delegated to such a committee are considered to be the 
responsibility of the entire Board.  
 

The Board ensures that executive reward satisfies the following key criteria for good reward governance 
practices: 

• competitiveness and reasonableness 

• acceptability to shareholders 

• transparency 

• capital management. 
 
Remuneration and other terms of employment for directors are formalised within the Constitution / 
Articles of Association of the Company and Group entities. This outlines that remuneration to directors 
be limited to $20,000 per annum with alterations to be determined only through notice at a general 
meeting. 
 
Details of remuneration (audited) 
Executive directors’ and non-executive directors’ remuneration and other terms of employment are 
reviewed annually by the Board. The current base remuneration was last reviewed with effect from 1 
January 2011. The remuneration details of executive and non-executive directors of the Company and 
Group are set out in the table below: 
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Directors’ report (continued) 
 
Remuneration policy (continued) 
 

Name Year Cash fee $ 
Executive directors 
P.A. Lincoln Smith 
 
M.P. Lincoln Smith 
 
Non-executive directors 
W.V. Annis-Brown 
 
S.J. Danielson 
 
B.K. Lee (alternate for S.J. Danielson) 
 

 
2011 
2010 
2011 
2010 

 
2011 
2010 
2011 
2010 
2011 
2010 

 
8,000 
8,000 
4,000 
4,000 

 
4,000 
4,000 

- 
- 
- 
- 

Total 2011 
2010 

16,000 
16,000 

 
No bonuses or share options have been paid or issued to directors during the year (2010: nil). 
  
Information on directors’ shareholdings is set out in note 18 to the financial statements.  
 
Auditors 
PricewaterhouseCoopers continue in office in accordance with Section 327 of the Corporations Act 2001. 
 
Auditors’ independence declaration 
A copy of the auditors’ independence declaration as required under section 307C of the Corporations Act 

2001 is set out on page 10. 
 
This report is made in accordance with a resolution of the directors. 
 
 
 
 
 
P.A. Lincoln Smith 
Director 
 
Sydney 
19 March 2012
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Corporate governance statement  
 
The board of directors are responsible to the shareholders for the performance of the Company and the 
implementation of corporate governance policies.  The board has reviewed the Company’s corporate 
governance practices in relation to the recommendations released by the ASX Corporate Governance 
Council.  The board supports the intent of the recommendations and recognises that given the current size 
and scope of the Company it is not practical to institute all of the recommendations at present. 
 

A description of the Company’s main corporate governance practices is set out hereunder.  Unless stated 
otherwise, all of the following practices were in place for the entire year. 
 

 PRINCIPLES AND 
RECOMMENDATIONS 

COMPLIANCE COMMENT 

1. Lay solid foundations for 
management and oversight 

  

1.1 Companies should formalise and 
disclose the functions reserved to the 
board and those delegated to 
management 

Does not comply This recommendation has not been adopted 
due to the size of the Company’s operations, 
the number of directors constituting the 
Board and the fact that the Company has no 
employees.  The Board is responsible for all 
functions typically delegated to management 
in addition to its usual board functions. The 
Board has delegated responsibility for the 
day to day operations and administration of 
the Group to the Chairman. 

1.2 Companies should disclose the 
process for evaluating the 
performance of senior executives. 

Complies The Board undertakes annual assessment of 
the performance of the Chairman, who also 
fulfils the role of CEO. The Chairman 
undertakes an annual assessment of the 
performance of executive directors as 
measured against criterion determined by the 
Chairman.  Any deficiency(ies) identified in 
a director’s performance are addressed 
directly with the relevant director(s).   

1.3 Companies should provide the 
information indicated in the Guide to 
reporting on Principle 1. 

Complies Departures from the Recommendation 1.1 
are stated above.  

2. Structure the Board to add value   

2.1 A majority of the board should be 
independent directors. 
 

Does not comply The Board consists of two executive 
directors (P.A. Lincoln Smith and M.P. 
Lincoln Smith) and two non-executive 
directors (S.J. Danielson and W.V. Annis-
Brown).  B.K. Lee is an alternate director for 
S.J. Danielson.  The company has no 
independent directors. The Board is of the 
opinion that the Company is best served by 
its current board composition of executive 
and non-executive directors.  The existing 
directors are conversant with the Company’s 
position and objectives, and the Board does 
not consider that the current stage of 
establishment of the Group justifies the cost 
of increasing the number of directors. 
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 PRINCIPLES AND 
RECOMMENDATIONS 

COMPLIANCE COMMENT 

2.2 The chairperson should be an 
independent director. 

Does not comply The Chairman is an executive director 
elected by the full Board. The Chairman is 
not an independent director because he has a 
substantial shareholding interest in the 
Company. 

2.3 The roles of chairperson and chief 
executive officer (CEO) should not 
be exercised by the same individual. 
 

Does not comply The Chairman is an executive director and 
also fulfils the role of CEO.  The Board is of 
the opinion that the Company is best served 
by the same person performing the role of 
Chairman and CEO due to the current size, 
complexity and stage of development of the 
Group.     

2.4 The board should establish a 
nomination committee. 
 

Does not comply Given the present size of the Group, the 
existing Board structure is able to meet the 
needs of the Group in the examination of 
selection and appointment practices without 
the establishment of a nomination committee 
of the Board. Any board member may make 
recommendations on board composition and 
appointments; however appointments are 
subject to the final approval of the full 
Board. 
 
The Board should comprise a balance of 
executive and non-executive directors with a 
range of skills and experience that are 
appropriate and assist the directors in 
performing their duties within the scope of 
the Company’s operations. 
 
The board should comprise at least three 
directors, increasing where additional 
expertise is considered necessary in certain 
areas to a maximum of nine directors.  

2.5 Companies should disclose the 
process for evaluating the 
performance of the board, its 
committees and individual directors. 
 

Complies The Board undertakes annual self assessment 
of its collective performance and the 
performance of the Chairman. The Chairman 
undertakes an annual assessment of the 
performance of individual directors as 
measured against criterion determined by the 
Chairman. Any deficiency identified in a 
director’s performance is addressed directly 
with the relevant director. 
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 PRINCIPLES AND 
RECOMMENDATIONS 

COMPLIANCE COMMENT 

2.6 Companies should provide the 
information indicated in the Guide to 
reporting on Principle 2. 
 

Complies Directors’ skills, experience and expertise; 
and period of office held by each director in 
office are set out in the Information on 
Directors section of the Directors’ report. 
 

Directors have the right, in connection with 
their duties and responsibilities as directors, 
to seek independent professional advice at 
the Company’s expense.  Prior approval of 
the Chairman is required, which will not be 
unreasonably withheld. 
 

Explanation of departures from the 
Recommendations 2.1, 2.2, 2.3 and 2.4 are 
set out in this section.There are no departures 
from Recommendations 2.5 and 2.6. 

3. Promote ethical and responsible 
decision making 

  

3.1 Companies should establish a code 
of conduct and disclose the code or a 
summary of the code as to: 
• the practices necessary to maintain 
confidence in the company's integrity 
• the practices necessary to take into 
account their legal obligations and 
the reasonable expectations of their 
stakeholders 
• the responsibility and 
accountability of individuals for 
reporting and investigating reports of 
unethical practices. 

Does not comply The board expects all directors to perform 
their duties in a manner which is ethical, 
honest and objective and at all times 
endeavour to maintain and improve the 
performance and reputation of the Company.   
 
A code of conduct has not been formally 
established due to the small number of 
directors constituting the Board and the fact 
that Board changes are infrequent. The 
Chairman consistently and continuously 
ensures that all members of the Board have a 
clear understanding of their duties, 
responsibilities and their accountability to the 
Company and its shareholders for their 
conduct.    

3.2 Companies should establish a policy 
concerning diversity and disclose the 
policy or a summary of that policy. 
The policy should include 
requirements for the Board to 
establish measurable objectives for 
achieving gender diversity and for 
the board to assess annually both the 
objectives and progress in achieving 
them.  

Does not comply The Board considers that it is unnecessary to 
establish a policy concerning diversity given 
the current size of operations and stage of 
development of the Group. 

3.3 Companies should disclose in each 
annual report the measurable 
objectives for achieving gender 
diversity set by the Board in 
accordance with the diversity policy 
and progress towards achieving 
them.  

Does not comply See comment on Recommendation 3.2 
above.  
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 PRINCIPLES AND 
RECOMMENDATIONS 

COMPLIANCE COMMENT 

3.4 Companies should disclose in each 
annual report the proportion of 
women employees in the whole 
organisation, women in senior 
executive positions and women on 
the Board.  

Does not comply See comment on Recommendation 3.2 
above. 

3.5 Companies should provide the 
information indicated in the Guide to 
reporting on Principle 3. 

Does not comply Explanation of departures from the 
Recommendations 3.1, 3.2, 3.3 and 3.4 are 
set out in this section.  

4. Safeguard integrity in financial 
reporting 

  

4.1 The board should establish an audit 
committee. 
 

Does not comply This recommendation has not been adopted. 
Due to the small number of directors 
constituting the Board and the fact that the 
Board bears the ultimate responsibility for 
the integrity of the Group’s financial 
reporting and the independence of the 
external auditor, the Board has deemed that 
the establishment of a separate audit 
committee is unnecessary.  Accordingly, the 
Board is responsible for all functions 
typically delegated to an audit committee.  
 

Assessment procedures undertaken by the 
Board include: 
 

• Assessment of external reporting to 
ensure consistency with Board members 
information and knowledge 

• Assessment of the management 
processes supporting external reporting 

• Assessment of the performance and 
independence of the external auditors.  

4.2 The Audit Committee should be 
structured so that it: 
• consists of only non-executive 
directors 
• consists of a majority of 
independent directors 
• is chaired by an independent chair, 
who is not chairperson of the board 
• has at least three members. 

Does not comply  
 

The Company has only four directors (two 
non-executive directors and two executive 
directors).  No Company directors are 
considered independent. Presently the cost of 
a larger Board size is not justifiable. 
Also see comment on Recommendation 4.1 
above. 
 

4.3 The audit committee should have a 
formal charter. 
 

Does not comply The Board considers that it is unnecessary to 
establish a formal charter for the same 
reasons as set out above. 

4.4 Companies should provide the 
information indicated in Guide to 
reporting on Principle 4. 

Does not comply Explanation of departures from 
Recommendations 4.1, 4.2, 4.3 and 4.4 are 
set out in this section. 

  
 
 

  

F
or

 p
er

so
na

l u
se

 o
nl

y



CARBON MINERALS LIMITED  A.B.N.  29 001 836 586 
     

15 
 

 PRINCIPLES AND 
RECOMMENDATIONS 

COMPLIANCE COMMENT 

5. Make timely and balanced 
disclosure 

  

5.1 Companies should establish written 
policies designed to ensure 
compliance with ASX Listing Rule 
disclosure requirements and to 
ensure accountability at a senior 
executive level for that compliance 
and disclose those policies or a 
summary of those policies. 
 

Does not comply The Company aims to provide relevant and 
timely information to its shareholders and the 
broader investment community in accordance 
with its continuous disclosure obligations 
under the Australian Securities Exchange 
(ASX) Listing Rules. 
 

The Board considers that it is unnecessary to 
establish written policies designed to ensure 
compliance as it has delegated the function 
of continuous disclosure as required under 
the ASX Listing Rule to the Chairman and 
the Company Secretaries to assess the type of 
information that needs to be disclosed and to 
ensure the Group’s announcements are made 
in a timely manner, are factual, do not omit 
material information and are in compliance 
with the ASX Listing Rules. Information 
which is considered to be price sensitive is 
approved by the Chairman before its release. 
 

Mr. S.J. Danielson, company secretary, has 
been nominated as the person responsible for 
communications with the ASX.  This role 
includes responsibility for ensuring 
compliance with the continuous disclosure 
requirements in the ASX listing rules and 
overseeing and co-ordinating information 
disclosure to the ASX, analysts, brokers, 
shareholders, the media and the public.   

5.2 Companies should provide the 
information indicated in the Guide to 
reporting on Principle 5. 

Does not comply Explanation of departures from 
Recommendations 5.1 and 5.2 are set out in 
this section.  

6. Respect the rights of shareholders   

6.1 Companies should design a 
communications policy for 
promoting effective communication 
with shareholders and encouraging 
their participation at general 
meetings and disclose their policy or 
a summary of that policy. 
 

Complies The Board’s policy is for all investors to 
have equal and timely access to material 
information concerning the Group, including 
its financial position, performance, 
ownership and governance.  
 
 

Presently, communication with Shareholders 
is principally by post. All shareholders are 
notified in writing of general meetings.  Any 
relevant information is available to the 
shareholders on request by email, facsimile 
or post. A company website has been 
established and is used to provide 
information to shareholders.     
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 PRINCIPLES AND 
RECOMMENDATIONS 

COMPLIANCE COMMENT 

6.2 Companies should provide the 
information indicated in the Guide to 
reporting on Principle 6. 

Complies There are no departures from 
Recommendations 6.1 and 6.2.  

7. Recognise and manage risk   

7.1 Companies should establish policies 
for the oversight and management of 
material business risks and disclose a 
summary of those policies. 

Complies The Company’s established policies for the 
oversight and management of material 
business risks are summarised below:  

• Review the reliability and integrity of 
financial and operating information and 
the processes used to identify, measure, 
classify and report such information 

• Examine and evaluate the adequacy of 
internal control systems 

• Ensure compliance with relevant laws, 
regulations and standards  

• Formulate and regularly review 
programmes for exploration and 
development 

• Regularly report against established 
targets 

• Manage financial risk 

• Oversee of the conduct of contractors 

• Assess the probability and potential 
impact of identified risks  

• Develop actions to eliminate, diminish or 
deal with the potential consequences of 
identified risks 

7.2 The Board should require 
management to design and 
implement the risk management and 
internal control system to manage the 
Company’s material business risks 
and report to it on whether those 
risks are being managed effectively. 
The Board should disclose that 
management has reported to it as to 
the effectiveness of the Company’s 
management of its material business 
risks. 

Complies The executive directors are responsible for   
designing and implementing the risk 
management and internal control system to 
manage the Company’s material business 
risks. The executive directors monitor and 
receive advice as required in relation to the 
Company’s material business risks and 
design and implement appropriate risk 
management strategies. Specific areas of risk 
that are identified are regularly considered by 
the executive directors.  
 

The executive directors have reported to the 
Board as to the effectiveness of the 
Company’s management of its material 
business risks. 
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 PRINCIPLES AND 
RECOMMENDATIONS 

COMPLIANCE COMMENT 

7.3 The Board should disclose whether it 
has received assurance from the chief 
executive officer (or equivalent) and 
the chief financial officer (or 
equivalent) that the declaration 
provided in accordance with section 
295A of the Corporations Act is 
founded on a sound system of risk 
management and internal control and 
that the system is operating 
effectively in all material respects in 
relation to financial reporting risks. 

Complies The Board requires the chief executive 
officer (or equivalent) and the chief financial 
officer (or equivalent) to provide such a 
statement at the relevant time.  

7.4 Companies should provide the 
information indicated in Guide to 
reporting on Principle 7. 
 

Complies There are no departures from 
Recommendations 7.1, 7.2, 7.3 and 7.4.  
 

The Board has received the report from the 
executive directors under Recommendation 
7.2 
 

The Board has received assurance from the 
Chairman, who also fulfils the roles of CEO 
and CFO under Recommendation 7.3.  

8. Remunerate fairly and responsibly   

8.1 The board should establish a 
remuneration committee 
 

Does not comply This recommendation has not been adopted. 
Due to the small number of directors 
constituting the Board and the fact that 
ultimate responsibility for the Company’s 
remuneration policy rests with the full Board, 
the establishment of a separate remuneration 
committee is deemed unnecessary.  
Accordingly, the full Board contemplates the 
issues that would otherwise be considered by 
the remuneration committee.    

8.2 The Remuneration Committee 
should be structured so that it: 
• consists of a majority of 
independent directors 
• is chaired by an independent chair 
• has at least three members. 

Does not comply The Company has only four directors (two 
non-executive directors and two executive 
directors).  No Company directors are 
considered independent. Presently the cost of 
a larger Board size is not justifiable. 
Also see comment on Recommendation 8.1 
above. 
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 PRINCIPLES AND 
RECOMMENDATIONS 

COMPLIANCE COMMENT 

8.3 Companies should clearly distinguish 
the structure of non-executive 
directors’ remuneration from that of 
executive directors and senior 
executives. 
 

Does not comply There is no distinction between the structure 
of non-executive directors’ remuneration and 
that of executives.  Non-executive directors’ 
remuneration is calculated on the same basis 
as executive directors’ remuneration.  The 
directors consider this method appropriate at 
this stage of the Company’s development. 
 

The Company determines by resolution the 
total remuneration to be paid to the directors, 
and the directors determine how the total 
remuneration is divided among them.  The 
total determined directors’ remuneration 
currently stands at $20,000 per annum.  The 
Chairman receives an annual directors’ fee of 
$8,000 and the other directors, excluding S.J. 
Danielson and B.K. Lee (alternate director 
for S.J. Danielson) receive annual directors’ 
fees of $4,000 each. 
 

Further information on directors’ 
remuneration is set out in the Directors’ 
Report at pages 8-9. 

8.4 Companies should provide the 
information indicated in the Guide to 
reporting on Principle 8. 
 

Does not comply Explanation of departures from 
Recommendations 8.1, 8.2, 8.3 and 8.4 are 
set out in this section. 
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Consolidated statement of comprehensive income 
for the year ended 31 December 2011 
 

  
Notes 

 2011 
$ 

2010 
$ 

 
 
Revenue from continuing operations 

  
 

5 

  
 

      334,413 

 
 

        48,991 
 
Net gain on sale of interest in petroleum 
exploration licences 
Net gain on sale of interest in joint venture 
partnership   
Raw materials and consumables used 
Exploration expenses 
Administration expenses 
Other expenses 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 

6 

  
 

 12,856,111 
 

                 - 
      (39,740) 
                 - 
    (192,293) 
        (1,732) 

 
 

                 - 
 

        55,567 
      (10,986) 
        (5,144) 
    (233,225) 
        (4,516) 

Share of net loss of joint venture partnership 
accounted for using the equity method  

    
                 - 

 
      (54,635) 

 
Profit/(loss) before income tax  
 
Income tax (expense)/benefit  

  
 
 

7 

  
 12,956,759 

 
 (2,552,257) 

 
    (203,948) 

 
                 - 

Profit/(loss) from continuing operations     10,404,502     (203,948) 

 
Profit/(loss) for the year 

     
 10,404,502 

 
    (203,948) 

Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the 
year 

     
 10,404,502 

 
    (203,948) 

 
Profit/(loss) is attributable to: 
     Owners of Carbon Minerals Limited 

    
  

 10,404,502 

 
 

    (203,948) 

 
Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the 
year is attributable to: 
     Owners of Carbon Minerals Limited 

    
 

  
 10,404,502 

 
 
 

    (203,948) 

 
Earnings per share for profit/(loss) from 
continuing operations attributable to the 
ordinary equity holders of the Company: 
Basic and diluted earnings per share 
 

  
 
 
 

23 

  
Cents 

 
 

55.33 
 

 
Cents 

 
 

(1.08) 
 

      
 

The above consolidated statement of comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the 
accompanying notes. F
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Consolidated statement of financial position  
as at 31 December 2011 

    
  

Notes 
 2011 

$ 
2010 

$ 
ASSETS 
Current Assets 
Cash and cash equivalents 
Receivables 
Term deposits 

  
 
8 
9 

10 

  
 

15,077,549 
     103,289 
       10,000 

 
 

     230,346 
       29,804 
       10,000 

Total Current Assets    15,190,838      270,150 

 
Non-Current Assets 
Term deposits 
Property, plant and equipment 
Exploration and evaluation expenditure 

  
 

11 
12 
13 

  
 

       65,000 
     736,080 
  1,906,856 

 
 

       65,000 
     736,080 
  3,877,265 

Total Non-Current Assets      2,707,936   4,678,345 

 
Total Assets 

    
17,898,774 

 
  4,948,495 

 
LIABILITIES 
Current Liabilities 
Payables 
Income tax payable  

  
 
 

14 
 

  
 
 

     183,450 
  2,552,257 

 
 
 

     101,930 
- 

Total Current Liabilities      2,735,707      101,930 

 
Non-Current Liabilities 
Payables 

  
 

15 

  
 

     - 

 
 

       88,000 

Total Non-Current Liabilities         -        88,000 

 
Total Liabilities 

    
  2,735,707 

 
     189,930 

 
Net Assets 

    
15,163,067 

 
  4,758,565 

 
EQUITY 
Contributed equity 
Retained earnings (Accumulated losses) 

  
 

16 
17 

  
 

  8,433,899 
  6,729,168 

 
 

  8,433,899 
 (3,675,334) 

Parent entity interest    15,163,067   4,758,565 

 
Total Equity 

  
 

  
15,163,067 

 
  4,758,565 

      
 
The above consolidated statement of financial position should be read in conjunction with the 
accompanying notes. F
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity 
for the year ended 31 December 2011 
 

                                                                                          Attributable to owners of Carbon  
                                                                                            Minerals Limited 

 
 

 
 
 

Contributed 
equity 

$ 

Accumulated 
losses 

$ 
 

Total equity 
$ 

Balance at 1 January 2010              8,433,899         (3,471,386)           4,962,513 
 
Profit for the year 
Other comprehensive income for the year 

  
                          - 
                          - 

 
           (203,948) 
                        - 

 
           (203,948) 
                        - 

 
Total comprehensive income for the year 

  
                          - 

  

 
Balance at 31 December 2010 

  
            8,433,899 

 
        (3,675,334) 

 
          4,758,565 

 
Profit for the year 
Other comprehensive income for the year 

  
                          - 
                          - 

 
        10,404,502 
                        - 

 
        10,404,502 
                        - 

 
Total comprehensive income for the year 

  
                          - 

 
        10,404,502 

 
        10,404,502 

 
Balance at 31 December 2011 

  
            8,433,899 

 
          6,729,168 

 
        15,163,067 

 
 

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction 
 with the accompanying notes. 
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Consolidated statement of cash flows 
for the year ended 31 December 2011 

    
  

Notes 
 2011 

$ 
2010 

$ 
 
Cash flows from operating activities 
Interest received 
Receipts from customers (inclusive of goods 
and services tax) 
Payments 
- to suppliers and employees (inclusive of 

goods and services tax) 
- for exploration expenditure (inclusive of 

goods and services tax) 

    
 

       232,671 
    
        63,606 

 
 

    (259,537) 

    (157,969) 

 
 

        22,421 
    
        54,808 

 
 

    (167,160) 

    (213,641) 

 
Net cash (outflow) from operating 
activities 

  
 

22 

  
    

    (121,229) 

 
 

    (303,572) 

Cash flows from investing activities 
Proceeds from sale of interest in petroleum 
exploration licences 
Payments for costs in relation to sale of  
interest in petroleum exploration licences 

    
 

 15,000,000 
       

      (31,568) 

 
 

                 - 
 

                 - 

 
Net cash inflow from investing activities 

    
14,968,432 

            
                 - 

 
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash 
equivalents 

    
 

 14,847,203 

 
 

    (303,572) 

 
Cash and cash equivalents at the 
beginning of the year 

    
 

      230,346 

 
 

      533,918 

 
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of 
the year 

  
 

8 

  
 

 15,077,549 

 
 

      230,346 

 
 

The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction  
with the accompanying notes. 

 

F
or

 p
er

so
na

l u
se

 o
nl

y



CARBON MINERALS LIMITED  A.B.N.  29 001 836 586 
      

23 

 

Contents of the notes to the financial statements 
 Page 

 
Note 1: Summary of significant accounting policies 24 

Note 2: Financial risk management 33 

Note 3: Critical accounting estimates and judgements 35 

Note 4: Financial reporting by segments 36 

Note 5: Revenue 36 

Note 6: Expenses 37 

Note 7: Income tax expense 37 

Note 8: Current assets – cash and cash equivalents 37 

Note 9: Current assets – receivables 38 

Note 10: Current assets – term deposits 38 

Note 11: Non-current assets – term deposits 39 

Note 12: Non-current assets – property, plant and equipment 39 

Note 13: Non-current assets – exploration and evaluation expenditure 39 

Note 14: Current liabilities – payables 40 

Note 15: Non-current liabilities - payables 40 

Note 16: Contributed equity 40 

Note 17: Accumulated losses 40 

Note 18: Key management personnel disclosures 41 

Note 19: Remuneration of auditors 43 

Note 20: Related party transactions 43 

Note 21: Contingent liabilities 44 

Note 22: Reconciliation of profit/(loss) after income tax to net cash outflow from operating 
activities 44 

Note 23: Earnings per share 44 

Note 24: Commitments for expenditure 45 

Note 25: Subsidiaries 45 

Note 26: Parent entity financial information 46 

 
 
 

F
or

 p
er

so
na

l u
se

 o
nl

y



CARBON MINERALS LIMITED  A.B.N.  29 001 836 586 
      

24 

 

Notes to the financial statements 
31 December 2011 
 
Note 1:  Summary of significant accounting policies  
 
The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements are 
set out below.  These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise 
stated.  The financial statements are for the consolidated entity consisting of Carbon Minerals Limited 
and its subsidiaries. 
 

(a) Basis of preparation  

These general purpose financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting 
Standards, other authoritative pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards Board, Urgent 
Issues Group Interpretations and the Corporations Act 2001. 
 

(i) Compliance with IFRS 

The consolidated financial statements of the Carbon Minerals Limited group also comply with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by the International Accounting Standards 
Board (IASB). 
 

(ii) New and amended standards adopted by the group 

The following new standards and amendments to standards are mandatory for the first time for the 
financial year beginning 1 January 2011. 

• Revised AASB 124 Related Party Disclosures 

• AASB 2009-12 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards  
 

The adoption of these standards did not have any impact on the current period or any prior period and is 
not likely to affect future periods.   
 

(iv) Historical cost convention 

These financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified by the 
revaluation of available-for-sale financial assets. 
 

(v) Critical accounting estimates and judgements  

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with Australian Accounting Standards requires the 
use of certain critical accounting estimates.  It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the 
process of applying the Group’s accounting policies.  The areas involving a higher degree of judgement 
or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial statements are 
disclosed in note 3. 
 

 (b) Principles of consolidation 

(i) Subsidiaries 

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets and liabilities of all subsidiaries of Carbon 
Minerals Limited (“Company” or “parent entity”) as at 31 December 2011 and the results of all 
subsidiaries for the year then ended.  Carbon Minerals Limited and its subsidiaries together are referred to 
in this financial report as the Group or the consolidated entity. 
 

Subsidiaries are all those entities (including special purpose entities) over which the Group has the power 
to govern the financial and operating policies, generally accompanying a shareholding of more than one-
half of the voting rights.  The existence and effect of potential voting rights that are currently exercisable 
or convertible are considered when assessing whether the Group controls another entity. 
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Notes to the financial statements  
31 December 2011 (continued) 
 
Note 1:  Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
(b)   Principles of consolidation (continued) 
 

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group.  They are 
de-consolidated from the date that control ceases. The purchase method of accounting is used to account 
for the acquisition of subsidiaries by the Group (refer to note 1(f)). 
 

Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between Group companies are 
eliminated.  Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of the 
impairment of the asset transferred.  Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where 
necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group. 
 

(ii)  Associates 

Associates are all entities over which the Group has significant influence but not control, generally 
accompanying a shareholding of between 20% and 50% of the voting rights. Investments in associates are 
accounted for in the parent entity financial statements using the cost method and in the consolidated 
financial statements using the equity method of accounting, after initially being recognised at cost. The 
Group’s investment in associates includes goodwill (net of any accumulated impairment losses) identified 
on acquisition. 
 

The Group’s share of its associates’ post-acquisition profits or losses is recognised in the income 
statement, and its share of post-acquisition movements in reserves is recognised in reserves. The 
cumulative post-acquisition movements are adjusted against the carrying amount of the investment. 
Dividends receivable from associates are recognised in the parent entity’s income statement, while in the 
consolidated financial statements they reduce the carrying amount of the investment. 
 

When the Group’s share of losses in an associate equals or exceeds its interest in the associate, including 
any other unsecured receivables, the Group does not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred 
obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate. 
 

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its associates are eliminated to the extent of the 
Group’s interest in the associates. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides 
evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of associates have been changed 
where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group. 
 

(c) Segment reporting 

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief 
operating decision maker.  The chief operating decision maker, who is responsible for allocating 
resources and assessing performance of the operating segments, has been identified as the CEO. 
 

(d) Revenue recognition 

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable.  Amounts disclosed as 
revenue are net of returns, trade allowances and duties and taxes paid.  Revenue is recognised for the 
major business activities as follows:  

(i) Interest income 

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the effective interest method. 
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Notes to the financial statements  
31 December 2011 (continued) 
 
Note 1:  Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
(d) Revenue recognition (continued) 

(ii) Crop sales 

During the year, the Group grew crops on vacant land.  Revenue from the sale of these crops will be 
recognised when the Group sells the produce to the customer. 

(iii) Technical and administration fees received 

Technical and administration fees received are recognised on an accruals basis. 

(iv) Access compensation received 

Access compensation received is recognised when received. 
 

(e) Income tax 

The income tax expense or revenue for the period is the tax payable on the current period’s taxable 
income based on the national income tax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted by changes in deferred tax 
assets and liabilities attributable to temporary differences between the tax bases of assets and liabilities 
and their carrying amounts in the financial statements, and to unused tax losses. 
 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised for temporary differences at the tax rates expected to 
apply when the assets are recovered or liabilities are settled, based on those tax rates which are enacted or 

substantively enacted for each jurisdiction. The relevant tax rates are applied to the cumulative amounts 
of deductible and taxable temporary differences to measure the deferred tax asset or liability. An 
exception is made for certain temporary differences arising from the initial recognition of an asset or a 
liability.  No deferred tax asset or liability is recognised in relation to these temporary differences if they 
arose in a transaction, other than a business combination, that at the time of the transaction did not affect 
either accounting profit or taxable profit or loss. 
 

Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses only if it is 
probable that future taxable amounts will be available to utilise those temporary differences and losses. 
 

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not recognised for temporary differences between the carrying 
amount and tax bases of investments in controlled entities where the parent entity is able to control the 
timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable that the differences will not reverse 
in the foreseeable future.  
 

Tax consolidation legislation 

Carbon Minerals Limited and its wholly-owned Australian controlled entities have implemented the tax 
consolidation legislation. 
 

The head entity, Carbon Minerals Limited, and the controlled entities in the tax consolidated group 
account for their own current and deferred tax amounts.  These tax amounts are measured as if each entity 
in the tax consolidated group continues to be a stand alone taxpayer in its own right. 
 

In addition to its own current and deferred tax amounts, Carbon Minerals Limited also recognises the 
current tax liabilities (or assets) and the deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses and unused tax 
credits assumed from controlled entities in the tax consolidated group. 
 

Assets or liabilities arising under tax funding agreements with the tax consolidated entities are recognised 
as amounts receivable from or payable to other entities in the Group.   
 

Any difference between the amounts assumed and amounts receivable or payable under the tax funding 
agreement are recognised as a contribution to (or distribution from) wholly-owned tax consolidated 
entities. 
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Notes to the financial statements  
31 December 2011 (continued) 
 
Note 1:  Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
(f) Business combinations 

The purchase method of accounting is used to account for all business combinations, including business 
combinations involving entities or businesses under common control, regardless of whether equity 
instruments or other assets are acquired.  Cost is measured as the fair value of the assets given, equity 
instruments issued or liabilities incurred or assumed at the date of exchange plus costs directly 
attributable to the acquisition.  Where equity instruments are issued in an acquisition, the fair value of the 
instruments is their published market price as at the date of exchange unless, in rare circumstances, it can 
be demonstrated that the published price at the date of exchange is an unreliable indicator of fair value  
and that other evidence and valuation methods provide a more reliable measure of fair value.  Transaction 
costs arising on the issue of equity instruments are recognised directly in equity. 
 

Where settlement of any part of cash consideration is deferred, the amounts payable in the future are 
discounted to their present value as at the date of acquisition.  The discount rate used is the rate at which a 
similar borrowing could be obtained from an independent financier under comparable terms and 
conditions. 
 
(g) Cash and cash equivalents  

Cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, deposits held at call with financial institutions, other 
short-term, highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less that are readily 
convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, 
and bank overdrafts.  Bank overdrafts are shown within borrowings in current liabilities on the balance 
sheet. 
 

(h) Receivables 

Trade receivables are recognised initially at fair value less provision for impairment. 
 

Collectability of receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis. Debts which are known to be uncollectible 
are written off.  A provision for doubtful receivables is established when there is objective evidence that 
the Group will not be able to collect all amounts due according to the original terms of receivables. 
 

(i) Inventories  

Stores are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.  Costs comprise direct materials and direct 
labour.  Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less the 
estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale. 
 

(j) Investments and other financial assets  

The Group classifies its investments in the following categories: loans and receivables and 
available-for-sale financial assets. The classification depends on the purpose for which the investments 
were acquired. Management determines the classification of its investments at initial recognition and 
re-evaluates this designation at each reporting date. 
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Notes to the financial statements  
31 December 2011 (continued) 
 
Note 1:  Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
(j) Investments and other financial assets (continued) 

(i) Loans and receivables 

Loans and receivables are non derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not 
quoted in an active market. They arise when the Group provides money, goods or services directly to a 
debtor with no intention of selling the receivable. They are included in current assets, except for those 
with maturities greater than 12 months after the balance sheet date which are classified as non-current 
assets. Loans and receivables are included in receivables in the balance sheet (refer to note 9). 
 
 (ii) Available-for-sale financial assets  

Available-for-sale financial assets, comprising principally marketable equity securities, are 
non-derivatives that are either designated in this category or not classified in any of the other categories. 
They are included in non-current assets unless management intends to dispose of the investment within 
12 months of the reporting date.  Investments are designated as available-for-sale if they do not have 
fixed maturities and fixed or determinable payments and management intends to hold them for the 
medium to long term. 
 
Purchases and sales of investments are recognised on trade-date - the date on which the Group commits to 
purchase or sell the asset. Investments are initially recognised at fair value plus transaction costs for all 
financial assets not carried at fair value through profit or loss. Financial assets are derecognised when the 
rights to receive cash flows from the financial assets have expired or have been transferred and the Group 
has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership. 
 

Available-for-sale financial assets are subsequently carried at fair value. Loans and receivables are carried 
at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Realised and unrealised gains and losses arising 
from changes in the fair value of the ‘financial assets at fair value through profit or loss’ category are  
included in the income statement in the period in which they arise. Unrealised gains and losses arising 
from changes in the fair value of non monetary securities classified as available-for-sale are recognised in 
equity in the available-for-sale investments revaluation reserve. When securities classified as available- 
for-sale are sold or impaired, the accumulated fair value adjustments are included in the income statement 
as gains and losses from investment securities.  
 

The fair values of quoted investments are based on current bid prices. If the market for a financial asset is 
not active (and for unlisted securities), the Group establishes fair value by using valuation techniques. 
These include reference to the fair values of recent arm’s length transactions, involving the same 
instruments or other instruments that are substantially the same, discounted cash flow analysis, and option 
pricing models refined to reflect the issuer’s specific circumstances. 
 

The Group assesses at each balance date whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or 
group of financial assets is impaired. In the case of equity securities classified as available-for-sale, a 
significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of a security below its cost is considered in determining 
whether the security is impaired. If any such evidence exists for available-for-sale financial assets, the 
cumulative loss - measured as the difference between the acquisition cost and the current fair value, less 
any impairment loss on that financial asset previously recognised in profit and loss - is removed from 
equity and recognised in the income statement. Impairment losses recognised in the income statement on 
equity instruments are not reversed through the income statement. 
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Notes to the financial statements  
31 December 2011 (continued) 
 
Note 1:  Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

(k) Fair value estimation 

The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities must be estimated for recognition and 
measurement or for disclosure purposes. 
 

The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets (such as publicly traded derivatives, and 
trading and available-for-sale securities) is based on quoted market prices at the balance sheet date. The 
quoted market price used for financial assets held by the Group is the current bid price; the appropriate 
quoted market price for financial liabilities is the current ask price. 
 

The nominal value less estimated credit adjustments of trade receivables and payables are assumed to 
approximate their fair value.  The fair value of financial liabilities for disclosure purposes is estimated by 
discounting the future contractual cash flows at the current market interest rate that is available to the 
Group for similar financial instruments. 
 
(l) Property, plant and equipment 

Property, plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less depreciation. Historical cost includes 
expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items. Cost may also include transfers  
from equity of any gains/losses on qualifying cash flow hedges of foreign currency purchases of property, 
plant and equipment. 
 

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as 
appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to 
the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are 
charged to the income statement during the financial period in which they are incurred. 
 

Land is not depreciated.  Depreciation on other assets is calculated using the straight line method to 
allocate their cost or revalued amounts, net of their residual values, over their estimated useful lives, as 
follows: 
- Furniture, fittings and equipment  3-8 years 
 

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each balance 
sheet date. 
 

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying 
amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount (note 1(o)). 
 

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with carrying amount.  These are 
included in the income statement.  When revalued assets are sold, it is Group policy to transfer the 
amounts included in other reserves in respect of those assets to retained earnings. 
 
(m) Exploration and evaluation expenditure 

Exploration and evaluation expenditure is accumulated separately for each area of interest. Such 
expenditure comprises net direct costs and an appropriate portion of related overhead expenditure, but 
does not include general overheads or administrative expenditure not having a specific nexus with a 
particular area of interest. 
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Notes to the financial statements  
31 December 2011 (continued) 
 
Note 1:  Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
(m) Exploration and evaluation expenditure (continued) 

For each area of interest, expenditures incurred in the exploration for and evaluation of mineral resources 
is expensed as incurred unless: 
 

• the exploration and evaluation expenditures are expected to be recouped through successful 
development and exploitation of the area of interest, or alternatively, by its sale and exploration; 
and 

• evaluation activities in the area of interest have not at the reporting date reached a stage which 
permits a reasonable assessment of the existence or otherwise of economically recoverable reserves, 
and active and significant operations in, or in relation to, the areas of interest are continuing. 

 

The recoverability of the carrying amount of the exploration and evaluation assets is dependent on 
successful development and commercial exploitation, or alternatively, sale of the respective areas.  The 
directors review the carrying amount for impairment annually.  
 
(n) Trade and other payables 

These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Group prior to the end of the 
year which are unpaid.  The amounts are unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days of recognition. 
 
(o) Impairment of assets 

Goodwill and intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation and are 
tested annually for impairment, or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that 
they might be impaired.  Other assets are tested for impairment whenever events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is 
recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The  
recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For the 
purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately 
identifiable cash inflows which are largely independent of the cash inflows from other assets or groups of 
assets (cash-generating units).  Non-financial assets other than goodwill that suffered an impairment are 
reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at each reporting date. 
 
(p) Provisions 

Provisions for legal claims, service warranties and make good obligations are recognised when the Group 
has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, it is probable that an outflow of 
resources will be required to settle the obligation and the amount has been reliably estimated.  Provisions 
are not recognised for future operating losses. 
 

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be required in 
settlement is determined by considering the class of obligations as a whole.  A provision is recognised 
even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to any one item included in the same class of obligations 
may be small. 
 
Provisions are measured at the present value of management’s best estimate of the expenditure required to 
settle the present obligation at the reporting date.  The discount rate used to determine the present value 
reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability.  The 
increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognised as interest expense. 
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Notes to the financial statements  
31 December 2011 (continued) 
 
Note 1:  Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
(q) Dividends 

Provision is made for the amount of any dividend declared, being appropriately authorised and no longer 
at the discretion of the entity, on or before the end of the financial year but not distributed at balance date. 
 
(r) Contributed equity  

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. 
 

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in equity as a 
deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.  Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares 
or options, or for the acquisition of a business, are not included in the cost of the acquisition as part of the 
purchase consideration. 
 
(s) Earnings per share 

(i) Basic earnings per share 

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit attributable to equity holders of the Company, 
excluding any costs of servicing equity other than ordinary shares, by the weighted average number of 
ordinary shares outstanding during the year, adjusted for bonus elements in ordinary shares issued during 
the year. 

(ii) Diluted earnings per share  

Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in the determination of basic earnings per share to take 
into account the after income tax effect of interest and other financing costs associated with dilutive 
potential ordinary shares and the weighted average number of shares assumed to have been issued for no 
consideration in relation to dilutive potential ordinary shares. 
 

(t) Goods and Services Tax (GST) 

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of associated GST, unless the GST 
incurred is not recoverable from the taxation authority.  In this case it is recognised as part of the cost of 
acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense. 
 

Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the amount of GST receivable or payable.  The net 
amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included with other receivables 
or payables in the balance sheet. 
 

Cash flows are presented on a gross basis.  The GST components of cash flows arising from investing or 
financing activities which are recoverable from, or payable to the taxation authority, are presented as 
operating cash flows.    
 

(u) New accounting standards and interpretations 
 

Certain new accounting standards and interpretations have been published that are not mandatory for 31 
December 2011 reporting periods. The entity’s assessment of the impact of these new standards and 
interpretations is set out below. 
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Notes to the financial statements  
31 December 2011 (continued) 
 
Note 1:  Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
(u) New accounting standards and interpretations (continued) 
 

(i) AASB 9 Financial Instruments, AASB 2009-11 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 

arising from AASB 9 and AASB 2010-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from 

AASB 9 (December 2010) (effective from 1 January 2013) 
AASB 9 Financial Instruments addresses the classification, measurement and derecognition of financial 
assets and financial liabilities. The standard is not applicable until 1 January 2013 but is available for 
early adoption. When adopted, the standard will affect in particular the group’s accounting for its 
available-for-sale financial assets, since AASB 9 only permits the recognition of fair value gains and 
losses in other comprehensive income if they relate to equity investments that are not held for trading. 
Fair value gains and losses on available-for-sale debt investments, for example, will therefore have to be 
recognised directly in profit or loss. 
 

There will be no impact on the group’s accounting for financial liabilities, as the new requirements only 
affect the accounting for financial liabilities that are designated at fair value through profit or loss and 
the group does not have any such liabilities. The derecognition rules have been transferred from AASB 
139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement and have not been changed. The group has not  
yet decided when to adopt AASB 9. 
 

In December 2011, the IASB delayed the application date of IFRS 9 to 1 January 2015. The AASB is 
expected to make an equivalent amendment to AASB 9 
  

(ii) AASB 1053 Application of Tiers of Australian Accounting Standards and AASB 2010-2 
Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from Reduced Disclosure Requirements 

(effective from 1 July 2013) 
On 30 June 2010 the AASB officially introduced a revised differential reporting framework in Australia. 
Under this framework, a two-tier differential reporting regime applies to all entities that prepare 
general purpose financial statements. Carbon Minerals Limited is listed on the ASX and is not eligible to 
adopt the new Australian Accounting Standards – Reduced Disclosure Requirements. The two standards 
will therefore have no impact on the financial statements of the entity. 
 

(iii) AASB 2010-6 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Disclosures on Transfers of 

Financial Assets (effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 July 2011) 
Amendments made to AASB 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures in November 2010 introduce 
additional disclosures in respect of risk exposures arising from transferred financial assets. The 
amendments will affect particularly entities that sell, factor, securitise, lend or otherwise transfer 
financial assets to other parties. They are not expected to have any significant impact on the group's 
disclosures. The group intends to apply the amendment from 1 January 2012. 
 

(iv) AASB 2010-8 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Deferred Tax: Recovery of 

Underlying Assets (effective from 1 January 2012) 
In December 2010, the AASB amended AASB 112 Income Taxes to provide a practical approach for 
measuring deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax assets when investment property is measured 
using the fair value model. AASB 112 requires the measurement of deferred tax assets or liabilities to 
reflect the tax consequences that would follow from the way management expects to recover or settle 
the carrying amount of the relevant assets or liabilities, that is through use or through sale. The 
amendment introduces a rebuttable presumption that investment property which is measured at fair 
value is recovered entirely by sale. The group will apply the amendment from 1 January 2012. It is 
currently evaluating the impact of the amendment. 
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Notes to the financial statements  
31 December 2011 (continued) 
 
Note 1:  Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
(v) Parent entity financial information 
 

The financial information for the parent entity, Carbon Minerals Limited, disclosed in note 26 has been 
prepared on the same basis as the consolidated financial statements, except as set out below. 
 

(i) Investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint venture entities 

AASB127(43)(c) Investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint venture entities are accounted for at 
cost in the financial statements of Carbon Minerals Limited. Dividends received from associates are 
recognised in the parent entity’s profit or loss, rather than being deducted from the carrying amount of 
these investments. Jointly controlled assets are accounted for at cost. 
 

(ii) Tax consolidation legislation 

Carbon Minerals Limited and its wholly-owned Australian controlled entities have implemented the tax 
consolidation legislation. 
 

The head entity, Carbon Minerals Limited, and the controlled entities in the tax consolidated group 
account for their own current and deferred tax amounts. These tax amounts are measured as if each entity 
in the tax consolidated group continues to be a stand alone taxpayer in its own right. 
 

In addition to its own current and deferred tax amounts, Carbon Minerals Limited also recognises the 
current tax liabilities (or assets) and the deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses and unused tax 
credits assumed from controlled entities in the tax consolidated group. 
 

(iii) Financial guarantees 

Where the parent entity has provided financial guarantees in relation to loans and payables of subsidiaries 
for no compensation, the fair values of these guarantees are accounted for as contributions and recognised 
as part of the cost of the investment. 
 
Note 2:  Financial risk management 
 

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including interest rate risk), 
credit risk, liquidity risk and price risk.  The Group’s overall risk management program focuses on the 
unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the financial 
performance of the Group. 
 

Risk management is carried out by the Board and the financial risks faced by the Group are considered 
minimal at this stage. 
 

 (a) Market risk 
 

The Group’s and parent’s main interest rate risk arises from cash and cash equivalents and deposits with 
banks.  The Group and parent are not exposed to currency risk. 
 

Group and parent entity sensitivity  

At 31 December 2011, if interest rates had changed by -/+ 100 basis points from the year-end rates with 
all other variables held constant, post-tax profit for the year would have been $150,775 lower/higher 
(2010 – change of 100 bps: $2,303 lower/higher), as a result of lower/higher interest income from cash 
and cash equivalents and deposits with banks.   
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Notes to the financial statements  
31 December 2011 (continued) 
 
Note 2: Financial risk management (continued) 
 
(b) Credit risk 
 

Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents and deposits with banks, as well as credit exposures in 
respect of outstanding receivables and committed transactions.   

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the carrying amount of the financial assets. 
 
(c) Liquidity risk 
 

The Group manages liquidity risk by monitoring actual cash flows and maintaining sufficient cash to fund 
operations.  Surplus funds are generally only invested in short term deposits with Australian Banks. 
 

The Group does not have any borrowing facilities in place at the reporting date.  
 

Maturities of financial liabilities 

The tables below analyse the Group’s financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the 
remaining period at the reporting date to the contractual maturity date.  The amounts disclosed in the table 
are the contractual undisclosed cash flows. 
 

At 31 
December 2011 

Less 
than 6 
months 

6 – 12 
months 

Between 
1 and 2 
years 

Between 
2 and 5 
years 

Over 5 
years 

Total 
contractual 
cash flows 

Carrying 
amount 
(assets) / 
liabilities 

 $ $ $ $ $ $ $ 
Non-
derivatives 

       

Non-interest 
bearing 
Interest bearing 

183,450 
         - 

 
              - 
2,552,257 

 
             - 
             - 

 
             - 
             - 

 
          - 
          - 

         183,450 
      2,552,257 

       183,450 
    2,552,257 

Total non-
derivatives 183,450 

 
2,552,257 

 
             - 

 
             - 

 
          -       2,735,707     2,735,707 

 

 
At 31 
December 2010 
        
Non-
derivatives 

       

Non-interest 
bearing 101,930 

 
             - 

 
88,000 

 
             - 

 
          - 189,930 189,930 

Total non-
derivatives 101,930 

 
             - 

 
88,000 

 
             - 

 
          - 189,930 189,930 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

F
or

 p
er

so
na

l u
se

 o
nl

y



CARBON MINERALS LIMITED  A.B.N.  29 001 836 586 
     

35 
 

Notes to the financial statements  
31 December 2011 (continued) 
 
Note 2: Financial risk management (continued) 
 
(d) Capital risk management  
 
The Group manage their capital to ensure the Group will be able to continue as a going concern while 
maximising the return to stakeholders. The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from 2010. 
 

The capital structure of the Group consists of equity attributable to equity holders of the Company, 
comprising issued capital, reserves and retained earnings.  
 
The Group operates through subsidiary companies in Australia.  None of the Group’s subsidiaries are 
subject to externally imposed capital requirements. 
 

The Group’s cash flows are used for exploration and development of the mineral interests, and to fund 
corporate costs of the Company. 
 
 (e) Fair value estimation 
 

The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities must be estimated for recognition and 
measurement or for disclosure purposes. 
 

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market (for example, investments in 
unlisted subsidiaries) is determined using valuation techniques.  The Group uses a variety of methods and 
makes assumptions that are based on market conditions existing at each balance date. 
 

The carrying value less impairment provision of receivables and payables are assumed to approximate 
their fair values due to their short-term nature.  
 
Note 3:  Critical accounting estimates and judgements 
 

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other 
factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the 
circumstances. 
 

Critical accounting estimates and assumptions 
The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future.  The resulting accounting estimates 
will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual results.  The estimates and assumptions that have a 
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within 
the next year are discussed below. 
 

Exploration and evaluation expenditure 

Certain exploration and evaluation expenditure is capitalised where it is considered likely that the 
expenditure will be recovered by future exploitation or sale, or where activities have not reached a stage 
which permits a reasonable assessment of the existence of commercially recoverable reserves. This 
process necessarily requires management to make certain estimates and assumptions as to future events 
and circumstances, in particular, whether economically viable extraction operations can be established. 
Any such estimates and assumptions may change as new information becomes available. If, after having  
capitalised expenditure under this policy it is concluded unlikely that the expenditure will be recovered by 
future exploitation or sale, the relevant amount capitalised is written off to the income statement.  
 

Carried forward exploration and evaluation expenditures are disclosed in note 13 and relate primarily to 
capitalised exploration and evaluation costs from activities in the Gunnedah Basin. 
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Notes to the financial statements  
31 December 2011 (continued) 
 
Note 4:  Financial reporting by segments 
 

The Group operates as a natural resources explorer and a primary producer in one geographical location, 
being Australia. 

 
2011 

Natural 
resources 

exploration 
$ 
 

 
Primary 

production 
$ 

Total 
continuing 
operations 

$ 

 
 

Consolidated 
$ 

Total segment revenue           13,190,524                     -    13,190,524        13,190,524 

 
Consolidated revenue 

    
   13,190,524 

  
       13,190,524 

 
Segment result 

          
          12,997,371 

 
           (40,612) 

  
   12,956,759 

  
       12,956,759 

 
Profit before income tax 

    
   12,956,759 

  
       12,956,759 

 

Segment assets and liabilities 
Segment assets 

   
                       
          17,530,452 

 

 
          368,322 

 

      
   17,898,774 

 

 
        17,898,774 

 

Segment liabilities 
 

            2,735,707 
 

                     - 
 

     2,735,707 
 

         2,735,707 

 
 

2010 
Natural 

resources 
exploration 

$ 
 

 
Primary 

production 
$ 

Total 
continuing 
operations 

$ 

 
 

Consolidated 
$ 

Total segment revenue               104,558                  -         104,558           104,558 

 
Consolidated revenue 

   
        104,558 

 
          104,558 

 
Segment result 

                
             (192,748) 

 
      (11,200) 

 
      (203,948) 

 
         (203,948) 

 
Profit before income tax 

   
      (203,948) 

 
         (203,948) 

Segment assets and liabilities 
Segment assets 

       
            4,579,789 

 
      368,706 

 
     4,948,495 

 
       4,948,495 

 

Segment liabilities 
 

               189,930 
 

                 - 
 

        189,930 
 

          189,930 

 
Note 5:  Revenue 

   
   2011 

$ 
2010 

$ 
 

From continuing operations 
Technical & administration fees received 
Access compensation received 
Interest received – non related corporations 

   

 
        78,000 
          3,000 
      253,413 

 

 
                 - 
        26,830 
        22,161 

 

 
   

      334,413 
 

        48,991 
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Notes to the financial statements  
31 December 2011 (continued) 
 
Note 6:  Expenses  

   2011 
$ 

2010 
$ 

Profit/(loss) before income tax includes the 
following specific expenses: 
 

Administration expenses 

   Secretarial fees 
   Share registry and listing fees 
   Audit fees 
   Other fees 
   Other expenses including bank charges 

   
 
 

 
        64,950 
        39,985 
        33,000 
        40,258 
        14,100 

 
 
 

 
        67,050 
        43,211 
        32,000 
        80,038 
        10,926 

 
 

   
      192,293 

 
      233,225 

 
Note 7:  Income tax expense  
 
(a) Income tax expense/(benefit) 

          
     2,552,257 

 
                 - 

Current tax 
Income tax is attributable to:  
Profit from continuing operations 
Recoupment of prior year tax losses 

   
 

     3,887,028 
   (1,334,771) 

 
 

                 - 
                 - 

           
     2,552,257 

 

                 - 

 

(b) Numerical reconciliation of income tax  
      expense to prima facie tax payable  
 
Profit/(loss) from operations before income tax 
expense 

   

 
 
 
 

  12,956,759 

 

              
 

                                          
 

    (203,948) 
 

Tax at the Australian tax rate of 30% (2010: 30%) 
Previously unrecognised tax losses now recouped 
to reduce current tax exposure 
Deferred tax assets not brought to account 

   

   3,887,028 
 

 (1,334,771)                 
                 - 

 

       61,184 
  

                - 
      (61,184) 

 

Income tax expense/(benefit) 
   

     2,552,257 
 

                 - 
 

(c) Tax losses 
 

Unused tax losses for which no deferred tax asset 
has been recognised 

  
 

 
                 - 

 
 

 
   4,449,238 

 

Potential tax benefit @ 30% 
  

                 - 
 

   1,334,771 

 
Note 8:  Current assets – cash and cash equivalents 
 
Cash at bank and on hand 
Deposits at call 

   
        49,634 
 15,027,915 

 
          9,523 
      220,823 

 
 

   
 15,077,549 

 
      230,346 
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Notes to the financial statements  
31 December 2011 (continued) 
 
Note 8: Current assets – cash and cash equivalents (continued) 
 
(a)  Cash at bank and on hand 
 
Cash at bank balances are subject to interest at variable rates and the average rate for the year was 2.13% 
(2010: 0.25%). 
 
(b)  Deposits at call 
 
Deposits at call are subject to interest at fixed rates and the average interest rate for the year was 3.01% 
(2010: 4.71%). These deposits have a maturity of 30 days. 
 
Note 9:  Current assets – receivables 
   
   2011 

$ 
2010 

$ 
Security Bond 
Interest receivable 
Trade Debtors 
Other receivables 
Refundable deposit 

  6,000 
   21,984 

57,200 
17,824 

           281 

6,000 
   1,242 

- 
21,895 

           667 

    
     103,289 

 
      29,804 

 
(a)  Impaired receivables 
The creation and release of the provision for impaired receivables has been included in 'other expenses' in 
the income statement.  Amounts charged to the allowance account are generally written off when there is 
no expectation of recovering additional cash. 
 

There were no impaired receivables for the Group and there were no receivables past due for the Group. 
 

(b)  Interest rate risk 
Information about the Group’s and the parent entity’s exposure to interest rate risk in relation to 
receivables is provided in note 2. 
 

(c)  Fair value and credit risk 
Due to the short-term nature of these receivables, their carrying amount is assumed to approximate their 
fair values. 
 

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the carrying amount of each class of 
receivables mentioned above.  Refer to note 2 for more information on the risk management policy of the 
Group and the credit quality of the entity’s receivables. 
 
Note 10:  Current assets – term deposits 
Term deposit held as security for bank 
guarantee (Note 21) 

   
10,000 

 
10,000 
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Notes to the financial statements  
31 December 2011 (continued) 
 
Note 11:  Non-current assets – term deposits 
   
   2011 

$ 
2010 

$ 
 
Term deposits held as security for bank 
guarantees (note 21) 

   
 

        65,000 

 
 

        65,000 
 

Term deposits are subject to interest at fixed rates and the average interest rate for the year was 1.87% 
(2010: 3.92%). 
 
Note 12:  Non-current assets – property, plant and equipment 

   
Freehold Land 
Opening net book amount          736,080       736,080 
Additions 
Disposal   

                 - 
                 - 

                 - 
                 - 

Closing net book amount      736,080       736,080 

 
Cost 
Accumulated depreciation   

      736,080 
                 - 

      736,080 
                 - 

Net book amount         736,080       736,080 

 
Note 13:  Non-current assets – exploration and evaluation expenditure 
 
Cost brought forward    3,877,265    3,686,983 
Expenditure incurred during the year         141,912       195,426 
Expenditure written off during the year 
Disposals   

                 - 
 (2,112,321) 

        (5,144) 
                 - 

 

Exploration cost carried forward     1,906,856 
 
   3,877,265 

Provisions for impairment in value of capitalised 
expenditure   

 
              - 

 
                 - 

Net exploration and evaluation expenditure 
carried forward     1,906,856    3,877,265 
 

The above amounts represent costs of areas of interest carried forward as an asset in accordance with the 
accounting policy set out in note 1(m). The ultimate recoupment of deferred exploration and evaluation 
expenditure in respect of an area of interest carried forward is dependent upon the discovery of 
commercially viable reserves and the successful development and exploitation of the respective areas or 
alternatively sale of the underlying areas of interest for at least their carrying value. Amortisation, in 
respect of the relevant area of interest, is not charged until a mining operation has commenced. 
 
The above amounts represent expenditure by the Group under the jointly controlled asset arrangements. 
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Notes to the financial statements  
31 December 2011 (continued) 
 
Note 14:  Current liabilities – payables 
   
   2011 

$ 
       2010 
          $ 

 

Trade payables 
Other payables and accruals 

   

12,925 
170,525 

 

33,759 
68,171 

    

183,450 
 

101,930 
 

Note 15:  Non-current liabilities - payables 
 

Other payables 
   

- 
 

88,000 

 
Note 16:  Contributed equity 
   

(a) Share Capital 
 5 ordinary shares of $0.50 each, fully paid, 

issued as subscriber shares   

 
 

3 

 
 

3 
 18,803,493 ordinary shares of $0.50 each 

fully paid   8,433,896 8,433,896 
    

8,433,899 
 

8,433,899 
 

(b) Movements in share capital  
Date Details  Number of 

Shares 
$ 

 

1 January 2010 
 

Opening balance 
  

18,803,498 

 

8,433,899 
 

31 December 2011 
 

Balance 
  

18,803,498 

 

8,433,899 
 

(c)  Ordinary shares 
At 31 December 2011 there were 18,803,498 fully paid ordinary shares.   
 

Ordinary shares entitle the holder to participate in dividends and the proceeds on winding up of the 
Company in proportion to the number of and amounts paid on the shares held. 

 

On a show of hands every holder of ordinary shares present at a meeting in person or by proxy, is 
entitled to one vote, and upon a poll each share is entitled to one vote. 

 

Note 17:  Retained Earnings / (Accumulated losses) 
 
   2011 

          $ 
       2010 
          $ 

Movements in retained earnings / (accumulated 
losses) were as follows: 
Balance 1 January  
Net profit/(loss) for the year 

   
   
(3,675,334) 
  10,404,502  

 
 

 (3,471,386) 
    (203,948) 

 

Balance 31 December 
   

    6,729,168 
 

 (3,675,334) 
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Notes to the financial statements  
31 December 2011 (continued) 
 
Note 18:  Key management personnel disclosures 
 

(a) Directors 
The following persons were directors of Carbon Minerals Limited during the financial year: 
(i)  Chairman – executive 

P.A. Lincoln Smith 
(ii) Executive director 
M.P. Lincoln Smith  
 (iii) Non- executive directors 

W.V. Annis-Brown 
S.J. Danielson  
B.K. Lee (alternate director for S.J. Danielson) 
 

No other key management personnel have been identified. 
 
(b) Key management personnel of the Group and the Company compensation 
 

2011 Short-
term 
benefits 

Post-
employment 
benefits 

Share-
based 
payment 

 

Name Directors’ 
Base Fee 
$ 

Super-
annuation 
$ 

Options 
 
$ 

Total 
 
$ 

Remuneration 
consisting of 
options 
% 

 
Executive directors 
P.A. Lincoln Smith 
Chairman 
M.P. Lincoln Smith 

8,000 
4,000 

- 
- 

- 
- 

 
8,000 
4,000 

- 
- 

Non-executive directors 
W.V. Annis-Brown 
S.J. Danielson 
B.K. Lee 

4,000 
- 
- 

- 
- 
- 

- 
- 
- 

4,000 
- 
- 

- 
- 
- 

Total 16,000 - - 16,000 - 
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Notes to the financial statements  
31 December 2011 (continued) 
 
Note 18: Key management personnel disclosures (continued) 
 

2010 Short-
term 
benefits 

Post-
employment 
benefits 

Share-
based 
payment 

 

Name Directors’ 
Base Fee 
$ 

Super-
annuation 
$ 

Options 
 
$ 

Total 
 
$ 

Remuneration 
consisting of 
options 
% 

 

Executive directors 
P.A. Lincoln Smith  
Chairman 
M.P. Lincoln Smith 

8,000 
4,000 

- 
- 

- 
- 

 
8,000 
4,000 

- 
- 

Non-executive directors 
W.V. Annis-Brown 
S.J. Danielson 
B.K. Lee 

4,000 
- 
- 

- 
- 
- 

 
- 
- 
- 

 
4,000 

- 
- 

- 
- 
- 

Total 16,000 - - 16,000 - 
 

No remuneration was payable to any officers of the Group or the Company other than the amounts 
disclosed above. 
 

Disclosures relating to key management personnel transactions with the Group and the Company are set  
out in note 20. 
 
(c) Shareholdings 
 

The numbers of shares in the Company held during the financial year by each director of Carbon Minerals 
Limited and other key management personnel of the Group, including their personally related entities, are 
set out below. Where shares are held by the individual director or executive and any entity under the joint 
or several control of the individual director or executive they are shown as ‘beneficially held’. Shares held 
by those who are defined by AASB 124 Related Party Disclosures as close members of the family of the 
individual director or executive are shown as ‘non-beneficially held’. 
 

Name Type Balance as at 
31 December 

2010 

Net changes 
during the 

year 

Balance as at 
31 December 

2011 
Executive directors 
P.A. Lincoln Smith 
 
M.P. Lincoln Smith 
 
 

Non-executive directors 
W.V. Annis-Brown 
 
S.J. Danielson 
 
B.K. Lee 
 

 
Beneficially held 
Non-beneficially held 
Beneficially held 
Non-beneficially held 
 

 
Beneficially held 
Non-beneficially held 
Beneficially held 
Non-beneficially held 
Beneficially held 
Non-beneficially held 

 
15,184,872 

8,500 
1,500 

15,191,872 
 

 
1,000 

40,000 
100 

- 
- 

10,000 

                    
-  

                  - 
                  - 
                  - 

 

 
-                 
- 

 - 
                  - 

-          
                 - 

 
15,184,872 

8,500 
1,500 

15,191,872 
 

 
1,000 

40,000 
100 

- 
- 

10,000 
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Notes to the financial statements  
31 December 2011 (continued) 
 
Note 18: Key management personnel disclosures (continued) 
 

(d) Loans to key management personnel 

No directors of Carbon Minerals Limited or other key management personnel of the Group, including 
their personally related parties, held any loans with the Group or the Company during the year. 
 

(e) Other transactions with key management personnel 
 

Refer to note 20 of the financial statements for details of related party transactions with key management 
personnel. 
 
Note 19:  Remuneration of auditors 
   
   2011 

$ 
2010 

$ 
Remuneration for audit or review of the 
financial reports of the parent entity or any 
entity in the consolidated entity: 
Auditors of parent entity 
- Parent entity 
- Controlled entities 

   
 
 
 

33,000 
- 

 
 
 
 

32,000 
- 

 
Total remuneration for audit services 

   
33,000 

 
32,000 

 
Note 20:  Related party transactions 
 
(a) Controlling entity 

The Company’s ultimate controlling entity is Malewi Investments Pty Limited, incorporated in New 
South Wales, which owns 11.22% of Carbon Minerals Limited directly and a further 69.54% 
through other investments held. 
 

(b) Directors 
The names of each person holding the position of director of the Company during the year are 
Messrs. P.A. Lincoln Smith, M.P. Lincoln Smith, W.V. Annis-Brown, S.J. Danielson and B.K. Lee.  
Also professional fees of $64,950 (2010: $67,050) were payable to Mitchell & Partners (Chartered 
Accountants) of which firm Messrs. S.J. Danielson and B.K. Lee are principals. 

 

(c) Remuneration 
Information on remuneration of directors is provided in note 18 and the Remuneration Report. 

 
(d) Terms and conditions 

Transactions were made on normal commercial terms and conditions and at market rates, except 
that there are no fixed terms for repayment of loans between related parties. Outstanding balances 
are unsecured and are repayable in cash. 
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Notes to the financial statements  
31 December 2011 (continued) 
 
Note 21:  Contingent liabilities 
 

Details and estimates of maximum amounts of contingent liabilities are as follows: 
 

Secured guarantees and security bonds exist in respect of mining tenements with the NSW Department of 
Trade and Investment. These guarantees and security bonds comprise deposits held with financial 
institutions on behalf of (notes 9 to 11): 
   2011 

$ 
2010 

$ 
Guarantees     
Australian Coalbed Methane Pty Limited            75,000         75,000 
 

Security Bonds    
Australian Coalbed Methane Pty Limited              6,000           6,000 
 

Note 22:  Reconciliation of profit/(loss) after income tax to net cash outflow from operating 
                        activities 
 

Profit/(loss) after income tax 
Net gain on disposal of interest in joint venture 
partnership 
Share of net loss of joint venture partnership  
Net gain on sale of interest in petroleum 
exploration licences 

   

10,404,502 
 
                  - 
                  - 
 
 (12,856,111) 

 

 (203,948) 
 
     (55,567) 
      54,635 
 
                - 

Exploration expenditure capitalised 
Exploration expensed 

        (141,912) 
                  - 

   (190,282) 
        5,144 

Change in operating assets and liabilities:     
(Increase) decrease in interest receivable 
(Increase) decrease in trade receivables 

          (20,742) 
        (57,200) 

            260 
                - 

(Increase) decrease in other receivables 
(Increase) decrease in refundable deposits 

             4,071 
              386 

       66,286 
           (367) 

Increase (decrease) in provision for income 
tax payable 

                 
     2,552,257            

             
                -            

Increase (decrease) in trade payables           (20,834)        13,929 

Increase (decrease) in current other payables 
Increase (decrease) in non-current other 
payables 

          102,354 
 
       (88,000) 

         6,338 
 
                - 

 

Net cash outflow from operating activities 
   

     (121,229) 
 

  (303,572) 
 

Note 23:  Earnings per share 
 

Basic earnings per share 
 

          0.5533 
 

      (0.0108) 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used as the denominator in 
calculating basic earnings per share    18,803,498 18,803,498 
   

(a) Reconciliation of earnings used in calculating earnings per share   

Profit/(loss) attributable to members of Carbon Minerals Limited    10,404,502     (203,948) 

Profit/(loss) attributable to minority interests                   -                  - 

Profit/(loss) attributable to ordinary equity holders of the Company used in 
calculating basic earnings per share 

 
   10,404,502 

 
    (203,948) 

Diluted earnings per share are the same as basic earnings per share. 
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Notes to the financial statements 
31 December 2011 (continued) 
 
Note 24: Commitments for expenditure 
 
Exploration Expenditure Commitments 
 
In order to maintain current rights to tenure to exploration tenements PELs 1 and 12, the consolidated 
entity is required to carry out exploration activities under an agreed work program.  These tenements are 
subject to a joint venture agreement (JV) between Australian Coalbed Methane Pty Limited (ACM), a 
wholly-owned subsidiary of Carbon Minerals Limited, and Santos QNT Pty Limted (Santos). Under the 
terms of the JV ACM is required to meet work program expenditure of $13M.  These obligations are not 
provided for in the financial statements and are payable as follows: 

   
   2011 

$ 
2010 

$ 
 
Within one year 

   
13,000,000 

 
- 

Later than one year but not later than 5 years   - - 

 
 

   
13,000,000 

 
- 

 
If the consolidated entity decides to relinquish certain leases and/or does not meet these obligations, 
assets recognised in the balance sheet may require review to determine the appropriateness of carrying 
values.  The sale, transfer or farm-out of exploration rights to third parties will reduce or extinguish these 
obligations. 
 
Note 25:  Subsidiaries 
 

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets, liabilities and results of the following 
subsidiaries in accordance with the accounting policy described in note 1(b): 
 

Name of entity Country of 
Incorporation 

Class of 
Shares 

Equity Holding* 
2011 

% 
2010 

% 
 

Linger & Die Gold Pty Limited 
Australian Coalbed Methane Pty Limited 
Websters Find Gold Pty Limited 

 

Australia 
Australia 
Australia 

 

Ordinary 
Ordinary 
Ordinary 

 

100 
100 
100 

 

100 
100 
100 

 

*  The proportion of ownership interest is equal to the proportion of voting power held. 
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Notes to the financial statements 
31 December 2011 (continued) 
 
Note 26:  Parent entity financial information 
 
(a) Summary financial information 
 The individual financial statements for the parent entity show the following aggregate amounts: 
 
  

 
 2011 

$ 
2010 

$ 
Balance Sheet      
Current Assets    15,127,119 258,004 
 
Total Assets 

    
15,928,199 

 
4,914,736 

 
Current Liabilities 

    
66,525 

 
68,171 

 
Total Liabilities 

    
12,465,752 

 
156,171 

 
Shareholders’ equity 

Issued capital 
Accumulated losses 

    
 

  8,433,899 
 (4,971,452) 

 
 

  8,433,899 
 (3,675,334) 

      3,462,447   4,758,565 

 
Profit or (loss) for the year 

     
 (1,296,118) 

 
    (203,948) 

 
Total comprehensive income 

     
 (1,296,118) 

 
    (203,948) 

 
 (b) Contingent liabilities of the parent entity 
 
The parent entity has secured guarantees with the Department of Industry & Investment in respect of 
mining tenements of subsidiaries.  These guarantees comprise deposits held with financial institutions as 
described in Note 21. 
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Directors’ Declaration  
 
In the directors’ opinion: 
 
(a) the financial statements and notes set out on pages 19 to 46 are in accordance with the Corporations 

Act 2001, including: 
 

(i) complying with Accounting Standards, the Corporations Regulations 2001 and other 
mandatory professional reporting requirements; and 

(ii) giving a true and fair view of the consolidated entity’s financial position as at 31 December 
2011 and of its performance for the year ended on that date; and 

 
(b) there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when 

they become due and payable; and 
 
Note 1(a) confirms that the financial statements also comply with International Financial Reporting 
Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board. 
 
The directors have been given the declarations by the chief executive officer and the chief financial 
officer required by section 295A of the Corporations Act 2001. 
 
This declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of the directors. 
 
 
 
 
 
P.A. Lincoln Smith 
Director 
 
 
Sydney 
19 March 2012 
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Shareholder information    
 
The shareholder information set out below was applicable as at 13 March 2012. 
 
1. Substantial Shareholders 

The names of the substantial shareholders and the number of shares in which they have an interest, 
as disclosed in substantial holding notices given to the company are as follows: 

 
Paul Aurius Lincoln Smith: 15,273,172 fully paid ordinary shares, incorporating 11,813,692 
shares held by Magnum Resources Pty Limited; 2,109,855 shares held by Malewi Investments Pty 
Limited; 720,000 shares held by Pali Pty Limited; 540,000 shares held by Pada Pty Limited ATF 
The L-S Unit Trust; 40,000 shares held by Malewi Investments Staff Superannuation. 

 
2. Voting Rights 

The voting rights attaching to the shares are, on a show of hands every member present at a 
meeting in person or by proxy shall have one vote and upon a poll each share shall have one vote. 

 
3. On-Market Buy-Back 
 There is no current on-market buy-back. 
 
4. Distribution of Shareholders 

Analysis of numbers of shareholders by size of holding:  
 

Number of Shares  
Number of 

Shareholders 
   

1 -     1,000 
1,001    -     5,000 
5,001    -   10,000 

10,001    - 100,000 
100,001 and over 

 376 
121 

28 
51 

8 

  584 

 
(ii) There were 322 holders of less than a marketable parcel of shares. 
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5. Twenty Largest Shareholders 
The names of the twenty largest holders of shares are listed below: 
 
Name of Shareholder: Number Held: Percentage of  

Issued Shares: 
1. Magnum Resources Pty Limited 10,756,700 57.21 

2. Malewi Investments Pty Limited 2,109,855 11.22 

3. Pada Pty Limited as trustee for the L S Unit Trust 1,495,000 7.95 
4. Imaj Pty Limited <Super Fund A/C> 1,135,000 6.04 
5. Pali Pty Limited 720,000 3.83 
6. Probex Pty Limited 345,415 1.84 

7. Altex Holdings Pty Limited  156,000 0.83 
8. Platigraf Pty Limited <Platigraf Super Fund A/C > 134,000 0.71 
9. Ms. Jillian Elizabeth Ross 67,500 0.36 
10. Yellow 88 Pty Limited <Barry Super Fund A/C> 65,000 0.35 
11. Bruce William Fleeting & Deidre Rosemary Fleeting 63,775 0.34 
12. Mr. John Joseph Ruddy 58,000 0.31 
13. RCW Constructions Pty Limited <Annis-Brown Super 

A/C> 
51,500 0.27 

14. Nefco Nominees Pty Limited 50,000 0.27 

15. Mr. Paul Lincoln Smith 48,625 0.26 
16. Mr. Ianaki Semerdziev              43,200     0.23 
17. BT Portfolio Services Limited <Howarth S/F Pension 

A/C> 
40,000 0.21 

18. Ross Asset Management Limited 38,000 0.20 
19. Mrs. Christine Jessica Blake              37,567     0.20 

20. Chamonix Pty Limited 34,000 0.18 

 
17,449,137

 
92.81 

 
6. Schedule of Tenements 
 

Location 
 

Tenement Holder Interest Area Current to 

New South Wales: 
Gunnedah 
Bando 

 
PEL 1 

PEL 12 

 
ACM 
ACM 

 

35%1 

35%1 

 
72 blocks 
31 blocks 

 
10/02/2015 

renewal 
application 

pending 
 

Key to Tenement Types 
PEL Petroleum Exploration Licence 
 

Key to Tenement Holders 
ACM Australian Coalbed Methane Pty Limited 
 

Notes  

1. PELs 1 and 12 are subject to a joint venture with Santos QNT Pty Ltd (Santos).  Santos has a 65% 
interest in the tenements.   
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